Filed 04-28-2022

Page 1 of 36

RECEIVED 04-28-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

## IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2022AP000076 & 2022AP000077

In re the termination of parental rights to A.F. and L.F., persons under the age of 18:
DANE COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES.

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

A.D.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

JEREMY A. NEWMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084404

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 264-8566 newmanj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner

##

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Between October 2019 and September 2021, the circuit court ordered A.D., the father of A.F. and L.F., to appear at eight pre-trial hearings in this termination of parental rights case. A.D. appeared at all eight hearings. During the last pre-trial hearing at which A.D. appeared, the circuit court excused A.D. and dispelled his concern that his early departure would be held against him, explaining: "This is a civil case, and it's not unusual that in civil cases we have the handling the pretrials. attorneys whenever you feel you need to leave to get ready to go to work, just go ahead and then you can excuse yourself and you can leave the meeting, okay?"

A.D. failed to appear for the next scheduled pretrial hearing and the court summarily granted the county's motion for a default judgment as to grounds to terminate A.D.'s parental rights to A.F. and L.F. In doing so, the court concluded that A.D.'s conduct was "egregious" because of the number of times the court had ordered A.D. to appear.

The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's finding of "egregiousness," similarly concluding that A.D.'s single missed appearance was "egregious."

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 4 of 36

In Dane County DHS v. Mable K., 2013 WI 28, ¶70, 346 Wis. 2d 396, 828 N.W.2d 198, this Court explained that a circuit court may enter a default judgment as a sanction in a TPR case when a parent's failure to follow court orders is "so extreme, substantial and persistent that the conduct may be considered egregious."

Has the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, in this case and a string of post-*Mabel K*. cases, effectively and unlawfully overruled *Dane County DHS v. Mable K*., by redefining "egregious" to mean "a parent's failure to appear at one pre-trial TPR hearing?"

This Court should grant review and reverse.

#### CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

The issue presented satisfies three distinct but connected criteria for review. First, the court of appeals' unpublished but citable one-judge decision is in clear conflict with this Court's decision in *Dane County DHS v. Mable K.*, 2013 WI 28, 346 Wis. 2d 396, 828 N.W.2d 198. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d).

Second, a decision by the supreme court will clarify the law with regards to the legal standard for "egregiousness" in the context of default judgments against parents in termination of parental rights cases. While the specific facts and circumstances in A.D.'s case may be somewhat unique, a clarifying decision by this Court will have statewide impact. In

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 5 of 36

fact, since this Court decided *Mabel K*. in 2013, the court of appeals has affirmed at least 'a baker's dozen' one-judge TPR cases involving default judgments based on a parent's failure to comply with court orders. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2.

Third, A.D.'s case presents a worthy candidate for this Court's review because the issue presented ultimately concerns a question of law "of the type that is likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court." See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)3.

As will be argued below, this issue has reached a tipping point. This Court's holding in *Mabel K*. is clear:

...Wis. Stat. § 805.03 limits the sanctions that a circuit court may impose for failure to comply with court orders to those that are just. In order for a sanction dismissing a civil case to be just, the non-complying party must act egregiously or in bad faith. The *Shirley E*. court applied that requirement to default judgments at fact-finding hearings in termination of parental rights proceedings.

Where a circuit court concludes that a party's failure to follow court orders, though unintentional, is so extreme, substantial and persistent that the conduct may be considered egregious, the circuit court may make a finding of egregiousness.

Mabel K., 346 Wis. 2d 396, ¶¶69-70 (emphasis added, but cleaned up). In short, a circuit court may enter a default judgment against a parent at the grounds

stage of a termination of parental rights proceeding if the parent's failure to follow court orders is "so extreme, substantial and persistent that the conduct may be considered egregious." Id., ¶70 (emphasis added).

Now, less than a decade later, the court of appeals has repeatedly affirmed default judgment's against parents for missing one hearing. If missing one hearing, at which the circuit court previously ordered the parent to appear, is "egregious," than this Court's decision in *Mabel K*. has been silently but effectively overruled by the court of appeals.

This Court should accept review, reverse, and reaffirm *Mabel K.'s* clear, simple, and straightforward egregiousness standard. To do otherwise would redefine "egregious" to mean "fail to appear at one hearing."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 24, 2019, Dane County filed petitions to terminate A.D.'s parental rights to A.F. (Case No. 2019TP68) and L.F. (Case No. 2019TP69). (2022AP76: 3:1-6; 2022AP77: 3:-6). The petitions alleged a single ground to terminate A.D.'s parental rights: failure to assume parental responsibility under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(6). (3:1, 3-6; 2022AP77: 3:1, 3-6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All subsequent citations to the record in these consolidated cases are to the record in Case No. 2022AP000076, unless otherwise indicated.

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 7 of 36

A.D. was summoned to appear in court on November 12, 2019, for a hearing on the county's petitions. (6; 2022AP77: 9). The summons and the corresponding notice of motion in each case included written notice that "[i]f you fail to appear at this hearing, or any subsequent hearing, the court may proceed to hear testimony and enter an order terminating your parental rights." (6:5; 2022AP77: 9:5).

On November 12, 2019, A.D. appeared in person and without counsel. (180:1-2). A.D. opposed the county's petition to terminate his parental rights: "I don't want my rights terminated." (180:33). The court found good cause to set the cases over to give A.D. an opportunity to obtain counsel. (180:33).

The court then scheduled a hearing for December 10, 2019, and, at the county's request, warned A.D. that "if you do not appear for that court hearing coming up on December 10th at 1:15, the court could make a finding of default and that would mean that you are forfeiting your right to contest the grounds for termination of parental rights. So, it is important for you to personally attend that hearing and all subsequent hearings on the petition." (180:37-39).

A.D. appeared in person on December 10, 2019, without counsel. (181:1-2). A.D. expressed a desire to be represented and the court instructed A.D. to contact the public defender's office "as soon as possible."

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 8 of 36

(181:3-4). The court again found good cause to continue the cases. (181:5-6).

On January 24, 2020, A.D. appeared in person and with Attorney Charles Ver Hoeve, who had been appointed on January 23, 2020. (55:1-2; 45). A.D. denied the allegations in the petitions and preserved his right to a jury trial. (55:5). The court set further hearing dates of March 26, 2020, (motions in limine) April 10, 2020, (final pre-trial), and April 21, 2020, (trial). (55:22-24).

Thereafter, and again at the county's request, the court informed A.D. that he was "required to be personally present at these hearings we just scheduled ... So you have to be personally present. If you're not personally present, you could lose the rights that we just talked about today and you could end up with a default judgment." (55:26-27). The court also informed A.D. that he was required to "personally participate" in depositions related to the petitions. (55:27).

On March 26, 2020, all parties and counsel, including A.D., appeared by telephone. (188:1-2). Upon A.D.'s request, the court allowed Attorney Ver Hoeve to withdraw as appointed counsel for A.D. (188:4-10). As a result of the developing COVID-19 pandemic and the related Wisconsin Supreme Court orders concerning jury trials, the court cancelled the scheduled April 21, 2020, trial but allowed the April 10, 2020, final pre-trial hearing to remain on the calendar. (188:3, 15-16, 24). The court also informed A.D. that upon his release from jail, "[i]t's going to be

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 9 of 36

very important then for you to mail us your address immediately when you're released. Okay?" (188:19-20). A.D. agreed. (188:20). The court continued, "If we don't have a current address and we send out a notice and you don't get it and so you miss a court date, I'm going to consider that a default if you haven't given us the new address that you can receive mail at." (188:20).

On April 10, 2020, A.D. appeared by video, as did his newly appointed counsel, Attorney Matthew W. Giesfeldt. (215:1; 69). The court rescheduled A.D.'s trial for September 13, 2020, and set a final pre-trial hearing for September 3, 2020. (215:9, 13).

On August 14, 2020, the court held a status hearing where all parties and counsel appeared remotely, including A.D., who appeared by telephone. (186:1-2). A.D. reasserted his right to a jury trial, but agreed that the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic constituted cause to delay the trial. (186:5). The court then rescheduled the jury trial for January 11, 2021, and the final pre-trial hearing for January 4, 2021. (186:20,23; 92).

On January 4, 2021, all parties and counsel, including A.D., appeared by video. (185:1). A.D. again reasserted his right to a jury trial. (185:5). The court rescheduled the trial for June 1, 2021, and the final pre-trial for May 13, 2021. (185:10-11).

On May 13, 2021, A.D. appeared remotely, and by counsel, who appeared in person. (184:1-4, 12-13; App. 3). The initial issue addressed at this hearing was

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 10 of 36

whether to sever the trials of A.D., who had repeatedly preserved his right to a jury trial, and J.F., the mother of A.F. and L.F., who waived her right to a jury trial. (184:8-33). After the court began discussing possible October 2021 dates for the rescheduled trial, the guardian ad litem asked for time to consult with counsel. (184:34; Pet. App. 18).

The court then granted a brief recess, at which time A.D. asked how much longer the hearing would take, because he was concerned about maintaining his employment. (184:34; Pet. App. 18). A.D. informed the court that he had to be at work at "10:15." (184:34; Pet. App. 18). The court indicated that it would be "comfortable excusing you from the rest of the pre-trial if Mr. Giesfeldt is okay with that and if you're okay that." with (184:34-35; Pet. App. 18-19). Attorney Giesfeldt, informed the court that he was fine with A.D. being excused. (184:35; Pet. App. 19). Nevertheless, A.D. expressed concern: "It's not going to -- it's not going to knock me off, no points off, is it or includ me, is it?" (184:35; Pet. App. 19). The court responded, "No, no." (184:35; Pet. App. 19). The court continued: "This is a civil case, and it's not unusual that in civil cases we have the attorneys handling the pretrials. No, no points. It's up to you." (184:35;Pet. App. 19).

The court then informed A.D.: "So whenever you feel you need to leave to get ready to go to work, just go ahead and then you can just excuse yourself and you can leave the meeting, okay?" (184:35; Pet. App. 19). A.D. thanked the court and subsequently "excused

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 11 of 36

himself for the remainder of the pre-trial." (184:36; Pet. App. 20).

After the recess, the guardian ad litem informed the court that counsel had reached an agreement to sever the trials for the A.D. and J.F. (184:36-37). Specifically, the parties reached an agreement to maintain the June 1, 2021, trial date for J.F. and to reschedule A.D.'s jury trial for October 2021. (184:36-38).

With regards to A.D.'s trial, the court scheduled jury selection to begin on October 7, 2021, and the trial to begin on October 11, 2021. (184:49). The court also rescheduled A.D.'s final pre-trial hearing for September 21, 2021. (184:50). At that point, the court excused A.D.'s counsel from the remainder of the hearing. (184:51). Before excusing himself, however, A.D.'s counsel confirmed that A.D. would be excused from J.F.'s trial, now set for a bench trial, but that counsel for A.D. would be permitted to observe J.F.'s trial. (184:51-52).

Then, the guardian ad litem requested that A.D.'s personal appearance be "required for the pretrial as well as jury selection." (184:53). The court stated: "It is." (184:53). The court further stated: "And in September, on the -- for the final pre-trial, I'll require his in-person appearance, and -- as well as in person appearances of counsel." The court then cautioned, "that a failure to appear without good cause could result in a default judgment terminating his parental rights." (184:53).

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 12 of 36

J.F.'s trial proceeded on June 1, 2021, through June 4, 2021, and June 14, 2021. A.D.'s counsel attended J.F.'s trial on behalf of A.D. on June 1, 2021, June 2, 2021, June 3, 2021, and June 14, 2021. (189; 190; 191; 183). On June 14, 2021, the court found grounds to terminate J.F.'s parental rights. (183). On July 27, 2021, the court held a disposition hearing at which time the court terminated J.F.'s parental rights. (182; 173).

Roughly two months later, on September 21, 2021, the court held the previously scheduled final pre-trial hearing related to A.D.'s jury trial, which was set to begin on October 7, 2021. (232). A.D. appeared by counsel, but A.D. did not personally appear. (232:1-3; Pet. App. 21-23). Asked whether he was expecting A.D. to appear, Attorney Giesfeldt informed the court, "I don't have any reason to believe that he shouldn't -- or wasn't coming." (232:3; Pet. App. 23).

The court then took notice that the court did not have a current address on file for A.D. (232:3; Pet. App. 23). The court stated that "[i]t shows it's still the Dane County Jail, but the Dane sheriff's inmate list doesn't show the jail as his address." (232:3; Pet. App. 23). Attorney Giesfeldt agreed and explained that A.D., since his release from jail a couple months ago, had not secured a permanent residence. (232:3; Pet. App. 23).

The county then moved the court for a default judgment, arguing that A.D.'s single failure to appear "supports an egregiousness finding." (232:6; Pet. App.

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 13 of 36

26). To support its argument, the county mistakenly asserted that A.D. was "personally present at that last final pre-trial" and that "before [A.D.] left, the court was very clear he was ordered to be personally present for today's final pre-trial, jury selection, and trial, and I believe he was present when this date was scheduled." (232:6; Pet. App. 26). As set forth above, A.D. appeared remotely on May 13, 2021, and excused himself from the hearing, with permission from the court, before his next pre-trial hearing date was scheduled and before the court ordered A.D. to personally appear. (184:34-36; Pet. App. 18-20).

The guardian ad litem supported the county's request for a default judgment, but also mistakenly asserted that A.D. was "present the last time we were in court and when this court date was scheduled." (232:8; Pet. App. 28).

On behalf of A.D., Attorney Giesfeldt objected and opposed the county's motion for a default judgment. (232:8-9; Pet. App. 28-29).

Prior to ruling, the court reviewed the court reporter's notes from the May 13, 2021, hearing. (232:9; Pet. App. 29). The court confirmed that at the final pre-trial hearing on May 13, 2021, A.D. was excused by the court "before today's final pre-trial date was set and before the oral order for personal appearance or reminder of his requirement to appear personally today was made." (232:10; Pet. App. 30).

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 14 of 36

At this point, the court asked Attorney Giesfeldt if he had a "phone number at which we can try to reach [A.D.]?" (232:10; Pet. App. 30). Attorney Giesfeldt explained that he had been communicating with A.D. by using "phone numbers of friends because he doesn't have his own phone right now." (232:10-11; Pet. App. 30-31). Attorney Giesfeldt further offered that he emailed A.D. that morning, but had "not yet received a response." (232:11; Pet. App. 31). Attorney Giesfeldt stated that he had been in communication with A.D. over the summer, and that A.D. did appear at a deposition after the May 13, 2021, final pre-trial hearing: "So he did participate in that deposition. I talked to him prior to the deposition and after the deposition prior to that day, and after that day also, communicated with him that day about the case." (232:11-12; Pet. App. 31-32). Attorney Giesfeldt continued: "[A.D.]'s continued to stay engaged in the case." (232:12; Pet. App. 32).

The court then questioned Hannah Graber, a social worker with Dane County Human Services, about her contact with A.D. (232:12, 16; Pet. App. 32, 36). Ms. Graber explained that her contact with A.D. was limited, that she never had an accurate phone number for him, and that "[s]ometimes if he calls me it's on a different number." (232:12; Pet. App. 32). Ms. Graber admitted that she "occasionally communicate[d]" with A.D. by email. (232:12:Pet. App. 32). Ms. Graber specifically admitted that she communicated with A.D. by email "last Friday," "I asked him to meet with me and he -- he got back to me about that." (232:13; Pet. App. 33). Ms. Graber also Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 15 of 36

informed the court that "over the past four months [A.D.]'s had maybe three visits, maybe four" with his daughters. (232:13-14; Pet. App. 33-34).

The court then confirmed with the county that the deposition A.D. participated in took place on July 26, 2021. (232:14; Pet. App. 34). After a brief follow-up argument from the county, the court ruled on the county's motion for a default judgment. (232:14; Pet. App. 34). The court's oral decision is set forth below:

Okay. Well, the -- I'll find that the history of orders, both oral and written, as described by the county in its argument is correct and it's not disputed. There have been repeated orders for personal appearance in this case and repeated orders to keep the court informed of his address. He participated in the last final pre-trial. During the course of the final pre-trial on May 13th, I think when it had become clear that there were going to be two separate trials, he asked if he could be excused because he was employed and needed to maintain employment. His attorney had no objection to him being excused, and I authorized him to be excused and so then he left the hearing. Up to that point, it did not appear there had been any problem with him hearing anything. After he was excused, we set today's date for the final pre-trial and I did enter another oral order for personal appearance with his attorney present here. We presume that that was conveyed to him to the extent that his attorney has been able to have communication with him.

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 16 of 36

He has not notified the court of any new address after the -- his release from jail. He has not notified the county of a new address. And it doesn't appear that he's notified anyone of a phone number at which he can be reliably reached, which is why I've tried to call him at this hearing. He does have an e-mail and communicates by email. So, essentially, his whereabouts are unknown and he's chosen not to keep the department or the court informed of where he's living. And he's failed to appear for today's hearing.

I will find that he is in default and in violation of the orders for personal appearance and that it is egregious given the number of times that personal appearance has been ordered in this case, even though he was not personally present when this date was set. In addition, the court attempted to send notices to him. Not all of them for this -- today's hearing, but to both the jail which was his last known address and to Aberg Avenue which he had provided as an address at which he could receive mail. He left no forwarding address with the jail that they were aware of, and the Aberg Avenue address mail that was sent there in June and July was not picked up. So I'll find him in default and I'll allow the county to put on its testimony.

(232:14-16; Pet. App. 34-36).

The county then called Ms. Graber, who testified about A.D.'s case. (232:16; Pet. App. 36). After brief arguments from Attorney Giesfeldt and the guardian ad litem about whether sufficient evidence was presented to support a finding that grounds

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 17 of 36

existed to terminate A.D.'s parental rights, the court made a finding that Ms. Graber's testimony was "sufficient grounds for termination of parental rights under 48.415(6)." (232:40-43).

The court then scheduled A.D.'s disposition hearing for September 30, 2021. (232:43).

A.D. appeared in person and with counsel for his disposition hearing. (233:1;Pet. App. 37). Attorney Giesfeldt immediately made a motion to adjourn the disposition hearing under "48.315" or alternatively "to vacate the default judgment." (233:3-4; Pet. App. 39-40). Attorney Giesfeldt argued that A.D. "has not had a working telephone," a "stable place of employment," "or a place of residency since he left the jail, and those two things inhibited both his receipt of notices," and "him not updating his address, he didn't have a permanent address to update the court." (233:4; Pet. App. 40). Attorney Giesfeldt further argued that "[A.D]'s presence here today demonstrates that if that communication can happen, he clearly has the motivation and ability to participate in the case." (233:4; Pet. App. 40).

The county opposed A.D.'s motion. (233:5-6; Pet. App. 41-42). After a preliminary discussion concerning attorney-client privilege, (232:6-12; Pet. App. 42-48), the court allowed A.D. to testify in support of his motion to vacate the default judgment. (233:13-15; Pet. App. 49-51). Attorney Giesfeldt's questioning of A.D. proceeded as follows:

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 18 of 36

Question: [A.D.], you were residing in the

Dane County Jail at some point in

2021; is that correct?

Answer: I don't know.

Question: Where -- do you have a current

permanent address? Like an apartment or a home or something

like that, right now?

Answer: I don't know.

Question: Do you have a -- your own telephone

number that is specifically assigned

just to you?

Answer: With fraud going on, shit, I don't

know. Shit, I don't have one possession -- in my possession in

person, no.

Question: Do you have like a subscription or a

plan with a phone provider to give

you a cellphone or a landline?

Answer: No.

Question: And do you have a personal

computer?

Answer: No.

Question: Do you have your own car?

Answer: No.

Case 2022AP000076 Petition for Review Filed 04-28-2022 Page 19 of 36

Question: Tell us how easy is it for you to get

around town. How do you provide

yourself with transportation?

Answer: This is a joke to y'all, ain't it? Y'all

just humiliate black people, man. Y'all just do it wrong, man. Excuse me. Excuse me. Okay, take me,

come on.

(233:13-14; Pet. App. 49-50).

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