MAY 1 1 2022

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT Appeal Case Nos. 2022AP76 & 2022AP77

Dane County Case Nos. 2019TP68 & 2019TP69

IN RE THE TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS TO A.F. and L.F, PERSONS UNDER THE AGE OF 18:

DANE COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES, Petitioner-Respondent,

VS.

A.D.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

#### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amanda J. Ramaker, State Bar No. 1078623 Assistant Corporation Counsel Office of the Dane County Corporation Counsel 210 Martin Luther King, Jr. Blvd., Room 419 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 266-4355 Attorney for Petitioner-Respondent, Dane County

##

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THIS CASE DOES NOT PRESENT ANY APPLICABLE CRITERIA FOR REVIEW. THERE IS NO SUBSTANTIAL OR COMPELLING REASON FOR THE SUPREME COURT TO EXAMINE THIS CASE.
  - A. It is not necessary to clarify *Mable K.* The existing discretionary standard is clear and well applied.

There is no need to clarify the existing law. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c). In Mable K., Mable appeared for the entire first day of jury trial, but later failed to appear at the second day of jury trial until after the jury was already excused and an unfitness finding had been made. Dane Co. DHS v. Mable

K., 2013 WI 28, ¶¶6-15, 346 Wis. 2d 396, 828 N.W.2d 198. The circuit court in *Mable K*. did not allow Mable's attorney to participate any further in the fact finding hearing, or to present any evidence.<sup>2</sup> *Id.* at ¶18. Mable, after ultimately arriving late at the circuit court, provided coherent testimony in support of her attorney's motion to reconsider the default judgment. *Id.* at ¶¶15-17. The *Mable K*. circuit court made no reference to egregiousness or bad faith when the default finding in question was made. *Id.* at ¶71. The majority's decision in *Mable K*. was clear that, "[h]ad the record clearly indicated that the default was imposed as a sanction, then our analysis would have been different." *Id*.

Despite ultimately holding that the *Mable K*. circuit court did not or failed to properly order default as a sanction, the majority opinion outlines when default in a TPR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Similarly, in *Shirley E.*, the circuit court held both phases of the proceedings (fact finding and best interest/disposition) without Shirley E. or her attorney present. 2006 WI 129, ¶18, 298 Wis. 2d 1, 724 N.W.2d 623.

proceeding is an appropriate sanction for failure to follow a circuit court's orders:

- "In order for a sanction dismissing a civil case to be 'just,' the non-complying party 'egregiously or in bad faith." Id. at ¶69 (citing Indus. Roofing Servs., Inc. v. Marquardt, 2007 WI 19, ¶43, 299 Wis. 2d 81, 726 N.W.2d 898).
- This sanction standard is equally applicable to and available in TPR proceedings. See Id. (referencing Shirley E., 2006 WI 129, ¶13, 298 Wis. 2d 1, 724 N.W.2d 623).
- "Where a circuit court concludes that the party's failure to follow court orders, though unintentional, is 'so extreme substantial and persistent' that the conduct may be considered egregious, the circuit court may make a finding of egregiousness." Mable K. at ¶70 (citing Hudson Diesel, Inc. v. Kenall, 194 Wis. 2d 531, 543, 535 N.W.2d 65 (Ct. App. 1995)).

In contrast to the facts of Mable K., A.D. failed to appear at all to his own final pre-trial, after it was stipulated his case would be tried separately from the mother's case. (Pet. Appx. 21). And, here, the circuit court clearly applied default as a sanction:

> ... I will find that he is in default and in violation of the orders for personal appearance and that it is egregious given

the number of times that personal appearance has been ordered in this case, even though he was not personally present when this date was set.

(232:16; Pet. Appx. 36).

In its decision, the circuit court here explicitly identified <u>two types of orders</u> with which A.D. failed to comply – "repeated orders for personal appearance," and "repeated orders to keep the court informed of his address." (232:15; Pet. Appx. 35).

There is no dispute that A.D.'s counsel was allowed to participate during the remainder of the fact-finding testimony, and at the dispositional hearing. (A.D. Pet. for Rev., pp. 16-17; Pet. Appx. 37).

Finally, unlike *Mable K*., when given an opportunity to testify as to any confusion, lack of knowledge, or other reason to vacate the default judgment, A.D. repeatedly answer "I don't know" to straightforward questions and then chose to leave the courtroom. (233:13-14; Pet. Appx. 49-50).

"A [trial] court properly exercises its discretion when it examines the relevant facts, applies a proper standard of

to clarify the law.

Case 2022AP000076

law, and using a demonstrated rational process reaches a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *Mable K.*, 2013 WI 28 at ¶39. In A.D.'s case, the circuit court explicitly applied default as a sanction after A.D. persisted in violating two types of repeated court orders over 21 months. This decision was consistent with *Mable K.*, and there is no reason

B. The Court of Appeals' decision-making in this case, and in the line of 12 additional cases cited by A.D., is not in conflict with *Mable K*.

This case, and the 12 other unpublished cases cited by A.D. in his Petition for Review, are each limited to their own distinct set of facts. As set forth above, the circuit court's application of A.D.'s specific case facts to the law was harmonious with the existing standard, and is without the need for clarification. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d).

Because each case is limited to its own facts, the circuit court is in the best position to determine "egregiousness." The circuit court has broad authority to grant a default judgment in TPR cases, as was done here, and

that decision rests soundly in the discretion of the circuit court. "[A] circuit court has both inherent authority and statutory authority under Wis. Stat. §§ 802.10(7), 804.12(2)(a), and 805.03 to sanction parties for failing to obey court orders." Evelyn C.R. v. Tykila S., 2001 WI 110, ¶17, 246 Wis. 2d 1, 629 N.W.2d 768. "Pursuant to this authority, a circuit court may enter a default judgment against a party that fails to comply with a court order." Id. "The decision whether to enter a default judgment is a matter within the sound discretion of the circuit court." Id. at ¶18 (citation omitted). In each case cited by A.D., the circuit court properly exercised its discretion and the Court of Appeals applied the correct law when affirming the lower court's decision. As such, there is no need for clarification by this Court. (See Pet. Appx. 60-244).

- 1. In State v. Samantha J., 2014 WI App 110, 357 Wis. 2d 723, 855 N.W.2d 905 (unpublished slip op., Nos. 2014AP988, 989, 1017) mother failed to appear at three hearings and her deposition. ¶¶16-21.
- 2. In State v. T.N., 2015 WI App 82, 365 Wis. 2d 348, 871 N.W.2d 692 (unpublished slip op., Nos.

- 2014AP2407, 2408) T.N. failed to attend multiple hearings, failed to contact his attorney, and failed to contact the court. ¶¶5-7, 24-25.
- 3. In Barron Co. DHHS v. M.B.-T., 2017 WI App 30, 375 Wis. 2d 327, 897 N.W.2d 68 (unpublished slip op., Nos. 2016AP1381, 1382, 1383) M.B.-T. failed to timely answer the TPR petition at all. ¶¶17-19.
- 4. In State v. K.C., 2017 WI App 34, 375 Wis.2d 799, 899 N.W. 2d 738 (unpublished slip op., No. 2017AP32) K.C. sought an adjournment on the morning of trial, for purposes of a psychological and neurological evaluation. ¶12-13. K.C. was ordered to appear the next morning and clear default warnings were given, but K.C. did not appear. Id. K.C. provided false information to the Court about being admitted to in-patient treatment, in an effort to avoid default and manipulate the circuit court's calendar. ¶13-15.
- 5. In State v. K.P., 2017 WI App 56, 377 Wis.2d 731, 902 N.W.2d 810 (unpublished slip. op., Nos. 2017AP612, 613) K.P. failed to appear at multiple hearings, including his jury trial. ¶¶9-12.
- 6. In Kenosha Co. DHS v. V.J.G., 2018 WI App 8, 379 Wis. 2d 768, 909 N.W.2d 211 (unpublished slip op., Nos. 2017AP1150, 1151) V.J.G. failed to appear at multiple hearings, including his pre-trial hearing and trial. ¶¶1-7.

- 7. In Barron Co. DHHS v. S.R.T., 2019 WI App 33, 388 Wis.2d 145, 930 N.W.2d 288 (unpublished slip op., Nos. 2018AP1574, 1575) S.R.T. failed to appear at more than four scheduled hearings. ¶¶4-6.
- 8. In State v. C.M., 2020 WI App 1, 389 Wis.2d 625, 937 N.W.2d 306 (unpublished slip op. No. 2019AP14833) C.M. failed to appear at multiple hearings and failed to follow the circuit court's instructions to contact the public defender's office to secure counsel. ¶8-11.
- 9. In *State v. Z.J.*, 2020 WI App 1, 937 N.W.2d 307 (unpublished slip op., Nos. 2019AP1623-1626) Z.J. failed to appeared at deposition, multiple hearings, and the dispositional hearing. ¶¶10, 13-18, 32-33, 39.
- 10. In *State v. L.C.*, 2020 WI App 55, 948 N.W.2d 503 (unpublished slip op., No. 2019AP796) L.C. failed to attend five court ordered depositions, refused to enter the courtroom at one hearing, and failed to attend another two hearings. ¶¶1-9.
- 11. In *State v. A.M.-C.*, 2021 WI App 27, 397 Wis.2d 245, 959 N.W.2d 98 (unpublished slip op., Nos. 2021AP94, 95) A.M.-C moved to New York City contrary to orders for personal appearance and failed to return for her trial, in addition to missing prior hearings. ¶¶5-9.
- 12. In *State v. M.R.K.*, 2022 WI App 7, 970 N.W.2d 593 (unpublished slip op., No. 2021AP141) M.R.K. failed to follow orders for personal appearance at one hearing, and also failed to contact the public

defender's office as instructed by the Court.  $\P\P7-12$ , 19.

13. In this case, *Dane Co. DHS v. A.D.*, unpublished slip op., Nos. 2022AP76, 77 (Mar. 31, 2022) A.D. failed to follow orders for personal appearance, failed to provide the circuit court with an address where he could receive notice, and failed to participate in his own motion to vacate the default finding.

First, as it relates to *Barron Co. DHHS v. M.B.-T.* in particular, there is a substantive procedural difference between failing to answer a petition for termination of parental rights vs. failing to appear after a denial is entered by way of answering the petition. Wis. Stat. § 806.02(1) ("A default judgment may be rendered [] if no issue of law or fact has been joined and if the time for joining issue has expired"); Wis. Stat. § 48.422(3) ("If the petition is not contested[,] the court shall hear testimony in support of the allegations in the petition[.]").

Second, every case advanced by A.D. for the purpose of arguing "there is now no meaningful difference between a parent's failure to appear at a single TPR hearing" and "extreme, substantial and persistent" conduct shows the

opposite. In each case, including this one, something was required, ordered, and found to be egregious beyond missing a single hearing. The circuit court is the ultimate arbiter of credibility and can draw reasonable inferences from the facts. See *Plesko v. Figgie Intern.*, 190 Wis. 2d 764, 775-76, 528 N.W.2d 446 (Ct. App. 1994). This is especially relevant here were A.D. testified briefly in support of his (ultimately abandoned) motion to vacate the default finding.

# C. The issue presented by A.D. is not likely to recur in a meaningful way.

The termination case against A.D. was filed in October of 2019. R. 3 (2022AP76); R. 3 (2022APP77). A.D. was found in default in September of 2021. R. 232. These termination cases were pending for an extraordinarily long time, during which A.D. received an extraordinary number of orders and default warnings. These facts alone are unlikely to repeat themselves, short of another global pandemic.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IS SUPPORTED BY A.D.'S FORFEITURE, WHICH IS SEPARATE FROM ANY *MABLE K*. ANALYSIS.

Trial counsel for A.D. made a motion to vacate the default judgment at the circuit court, but A.D. chose not to pursue his own motion when he left the courtroom in the middle of providing evidence in support of said motion. (Pet. for Rev. pp.17-19). Where a litigant fails pursue a motion, it is effectively abandoned. See *State v. Woods*, 144 Wis. 2d 710, 716, 424 N.W.2d 730 (Ct. App. 1988). A motion is deemed abandoned where a moving party fails to appear at the hearing on it. *Laska v. Steinpreis*, 69 Wis. 2d 307, 317, 231 N.W.2d 196 (1975).

Here, where A.D. abandoned the motion to vacate, the circuit court was never given the opportunity to exercise its discretion to vacate a default judgment, beyond finding that A.D. had abandoned said motion. A reviewing court may not exercise the discretion vested in the trial court. *Matter of Est.* of Olson, 149 Wis. 2d 213, 218-219, 440 N.W.2d 792 (Ct. App. 1989) (holding party waived right to argue motion to vacate default after failure to seek relief from default

judgment at trial court) ("As a general rule, we will not decide a mater not presented to the trial court.").

The Court of Appeals agreed with this analysis:

When the circuit court gave A.D. every reasonable opportunity to explain what happened and possibly have the default judgments vacated, the excerpt from the transcript noted above is how A.D. conducted himself and refused to answer questions in any meaningful manner. The County is correct that A.D. forfeited his motion to vacate the default judgments when he abandoned the proceedings.

Dane Co. DHS v. A.D., unpublished slip op., No. 2022AP76, ¶17, (Mar. 31, 2022) (citation omitted). (See Pet. Appx. 14).

A.D.'s Petition for Review can be denied for this reason alone. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(3)(e).

#### **CONCLUSION**

A.D. does not identify any applicable criteria for review. As set forth above, there is no need to clarify or correct the existing law. A.D.'s case facts are unique and unlikely to recur. And, A.D. has forfeited argument regarding the subject default judgment. As such, there is an alternative ground to support the underlying decision.